
PUBLIC VERSION 
 

 

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 

 
 
 
 
 

Investigation No. 337-TA-1213 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMISSION OPINION 
 

On August 17, 2021, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) issued a final initial 

determination (“ID”) finding a violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 

19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“section 337”), with respect to U.S. Patent Nos. 9,261,270 (“the ’270 patent”) 

and 9,476,570 (“the ’570 patent”), and no violation with respect to U.S. Patent Nos. 8,403,531 

(“the ’531 patent”); 8,596,819 (“the ’819 patent”); and 8,777,449 (“the ’449 patent”). On 

October 25, 2021, the Commission determined not to review the final ID’s finding of a section 

337 violation as to the ’270 and ’570 patents and no violation as to the ’449 patent, thus adopting 

those findings. 86 Fed. Reg. 60071-72 (Oct. 29, 2021); 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(h)(2). The 

Commission determined to review in part the final ID’s finding of no violation as to the ’531 and 

’819 patents. Id. On review, the Commission has determined to affirm the final ID’s finding of 

no violation as to the ’531 and ’819 patents. The Commission has determined to issue a limited 

exclusion order (“LEO”) directed to infringing light-emitting diode (“LED”) products, fixtures, 

and components thereof of respondent RAB Lighting Inc. (“RAB”) of Northvale, New Jersey, 

and a cease and desist order (“CDO”) directed against RAB. This opinion sets forth the 

Commission’s reasoning in support of its remedy determinations. 

 
In the Matter of 

 
CERTAIN LIGHT-EMITTING DIODE 
PRODUCTS, FIXTURES, AND 
COMPONENTS THEREOF 
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I. BACKGROUND 
 

The Commission instituted this investigation on August 17, 2020, based on a complaint 

filed on behalf of Ideal Industries Lighting LLC d/b/a Cree Lighting (“Cree”) of Durham, North 

Carolina. 85 Fed. Reg. 50047-48 (Aug. 17, 2020). The complaint, as supplemented, alleged 

violations of section 337 based upon the importation into the United States, the sale for 

importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain light-emitting 

diode products, fixtures, and components thereof by reason of infringement of certain claims of 

the ’270 patent, the ’570 patent, the ’531 patent, the ’819 patent, and the ’449 patent. The 

complaint further alleged the existence of a domestic industry. The Commission’s notice of 

investigation (“NOI”) named RAB as the sole respondent. The Office of Unfair Import 

Investigations did not participate in the investigation. 

The Commission previously terminated the following claims from the investigation: 
 

(1) claims 1-9 and 11-14 of the ’449 patent; (2) claims 3-12 of the ’270 patent; and (3) claims 2, 

6-9, and 11-24 of the ’570 patent. See Order No. 25 (May 5, 2021), unreviewed by Comm’n 

Notice (May 21, 2021). The Commission also amended the complaint and NOI to add asserted 

claim 11 of the ‘531 patent. See Order No. 13 (Jan. 8, 2021), unreviewed by Comm’n Notice 

(Jan. 26, 2021). 

On August 17, 2021, the ALJ issued the final ID finding a violation of section 337 based 

on infringement of claims 1-2 of the ’270 patent and claims 1, 3-5, and 10 of the ’570 patent. 

The ID finds no violation of section 337 with respect to claims 1, 10-12, and 25-26 of the ’531 

patent and claims 1, 24-27, 29, 48-50, 52, 57-60, and 65-67 of the ’819 patent on the basis of 

patent-ineligible subject matter, lack of enablement, and lack of written description.   The ID 

also finds no violation with respect to the ’449 patent on the basis of non-infringement, failure to 
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satisfy either prong of the domestic industry requirement, and lack of enablement. The ID also 

includes the ALJ’s recommended determination (“RD”) on remedy and bonding. The RD 

recommends, should the Commission find a violation, issuing an LEO directed to RAB’s 

infringing products and a CDO directed against RAB and requiring a bond in the amount of five 

(5) percent for importation of infringing articles during the period of Presidential review. 
 

The Commission issued a Federal Register notice requesting public comments on the 

effect of a remedy on the public interest should the Commission find a violation of section 337, 

but received no submissions from the public in response. 86 Fed. Reg. 47146-47 (Aug. 23, 

2021). Cree1 and RAB2 submitted public interest comments pursuant to Commission Rule 

210.50(a)(4) (19 C.F.R. 210.50(a)(4)). 

On October 25, 2021, the Commission determined to review the final ID in part. 
 

Specifically, the Commission determined to review the ID’s findings that:   (1) the asserted 

claims of the ’531 patent and ’819 patent are invalid due to patent-ineligible subject matter, lack 

of enablement, and lack of written description; and (2) the ’819 patent is prior art to claims 1, 10- 

12, and 26 of the ’531 patent. 86 Fed. Reg. 60071 (Oct. 29, 2021).   The Commission 

determined not to review the remainder of the ID, including the ID’s findings of a violation with 

respect to the ’270 and ’570 patents and the finding of no violation with respect to the ’449 

patent, thus adopting those findings.   Id.; 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(h)(2).   The Commission’s notice 

of review also requested written submissions from the parties, interested government agencies, 

 
 
 

1 See Complainant’s Statement on the Public Interest (Sept. 16, 2021) (“Cree’s PI Sub.”). 
 

2 See Public Interest Statement of Respondent RAB Lighting Inc. (Sept. 16, 2021) (“RAB’s PI 
Sub.”). 



PUBLIC VERSION 

4 

 

 

 

and other interested persons on the issues of remedy, the public interest, and bonding. 86 Fed. 

Reg. at 60072. 

On November 8 and 15, 2021, Cree3 and RAB4 each filed a brief and a reply brief on 

remedy, the public interest, and bonding. The Commission received no other submissions. 

Having examined the record in this investigation, including the ’531 and ’819 patents 

under review, the final ID, and the parties’ briefing, the Commission has determined, on review, 

to: (1) affirm the ID’s finding that the asserted claims of the ’531 and ’819 patents are directed 

to patent-ineligible subject matter; (2) take no position on the ID’s finding that the asserted 

claims of the ’531 and ’819 patents are invalid due to lack of enablement and lack of written 

description; and (3) take no position on the ID’s finding that the ’819 patent is prior art to claims 

1, 10-12, and 26 of the ’531 patent. See Beloit Corp. v. Valmet Oy, 742 F.2d 1421 (Fed. Cir. 

1984). Accordingly, the Commission affirms the ID’s finding of no violation as to the ’531 and 

’819 patents. 

As to the patent eligibility of the asserted claims of the ’531 and ’819 patents, the 

Commission agrees with the analysis set forth in the ID. ID at 21-28, 59. The Commission 

notes that claims 1-4, 6-12, 22, 24-28, and 52-59 of the ’819 patent were previously found to 

recite patent-eligible subject matter in a final ID. See Certain Light-Emitting Diode Products 

 
 

3 See Complainant Cree Lighting’s Submission on Remedy, Bond, and Public Interest (Nov. 8, 
2021) (“Cree’s Sub.”); Complainant Cree Lighting’s Reply Submission on Remedy, Bond, and 
Public Interest (Nov. 15, 2021) (“Cree’s Reply”). 

 
4 See Respondent RAB Lighting Inc.’s Initial Written Submission in Response to the 
Commission’s Determination to Review-In-Part the Final Initial Determination (Nov. 8, 2021) 
(“RAB’s Sub.”); Respondent RAB Lighting Inc.’s Response to Complainant Cree Lighting’s 
Submission on Remedy, Bond, and Public Interest (Nov. 15, 2021) (RAB’s Reply”). 
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and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-947, Final ID at 277-81 (Sept. 2, 2016) (“Certain 

Light-Emitting Diode Products”). The Commission, however, terminated Certain Light- 

Emitting Diode Products based on settlement while the finding of patent-eligible subject matter 

was still under review before the Commission, and therefore that finding was never adopted as a 

final Commission determination. See Certain Light-Emitting Diode Products, Comm’n Notice 

(Sept. 29, 2016); Certain Light-Emitting Diode Products, Comm’n Notice (Jan. 25, 2017); 82 

Fed. Reg. 8844-45 (Jan. 31, 2017). As such, the final ID’s patent-eligibility findings in Certain 

Light-Emitting Diode Products do not constitute the findings of the Commission. Moreover, the 

ALJ in that matter did not have the benefit of the two recent Federal Circuit decisions on which 

the ID here relies. See ID at 21 (citing Free Stream Media Corp. v. Alphonso Inc., 996 F.3d 

1355, 1363 (Fed. Cir. 2021) and Yu v. Apple Inc., 1 F.4th 1040 (Fed. Cir. 2021)). The 

Commission agrees with the ID that, under current Federal Circuit precedent, the asserted claims 

of the ’531 and ’819 patents are patent ineligible. 

As noted above, the Commission has adopted the final ID’s finding of a violation of 

section 337 as to the ’270 and ’570 patents.   For the reasons set forth below, the Commission 

has determined that the appropriate relief is an LEO directed to RAB’s infringing products and a 

CDO directed against RAB and imposes a bond in the amount of five (5) percent of the entered 

value of the imported infringing articles during the period of Presidential review. 

II. REMEDY, THE PUBLIC INTEREST, AND BONDING 
 

A. Remedy 
 

1. Relevant Law 
 

The Commission has broad discretion in selecting the form, scope, and extent of the 

remedy in a section 337 proceeding. Viscofan, S.A. v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 787 F.2d 544, 
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548 (Fed. Cir. 1986). 
 

Section 337(d)(1) provides that “[i]f the Commission determines, as a result of an 

investigation under this section, that there is a violation of this section, it shall direct that the 

articles concerned, imported by any person violating the provision of this section, be excluded 

from entry into the United States, unless, after considering the [public interest], it finds that such 

articles should not be excluded from entry.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1). 

Section 337(f)(1) provides that in addition to, or in lieu of, the issuance of an exclusion 

order, the Commission may issue a CDO as a remedy for violation of section 337. See 19 

U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1). CDOs are generally issued when, with respect to the imported infringing 

products, respondents maintain commercially significant inventories in the United States or have 

significant domestic operations that could undercut the remedy provided by an exclusion order.5 

See, e.g., Certain Table Saws Incorporating Active Injury Mitigation Technology & Components 

Thereof (“Certain Table Saws”), Inv. No. 337-TA-965, Comm’n Op. at 4-6 (Feb. 1, 2017); 

Certain Protective Cases & Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-780, USITC Pub. No. 4405, 

Comm’n Op. at 28 (Nov. 19, 2012) (citing Certain Laser Bar Code Scanners & Scan Engines, 

Components Thereof & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-551, Comm’n Op. at 22 (June 

24, 2007)). Complainants bear the burden on this issue. “A complainant seeking a cease and 

 
 

5 When the presence of infringing domestic inventory or domestic operations is asserted as the 
basis for a CDO under section 337(f)(1), Commissioner Schmidtlein does not adopt the view that 
the inventory or domestic operations needs to be “commercially significant” in order to issue the 
CDO. See, e.g., Certain Magnetic Tape Cartridges and Components Thereof (“Certain Magnetic 
Tape Cartridges”), Inv. No. 337-TA-1058, Comm’n Op. at 65, n.24 (Mar. 25, 2019); Certain Table 
Saws, Comm’n Op. at 6-7, n.2 (Feb. 1, 2017). In Commissioner Schmidtlein’s view, the presence of 
some infringing domestic inventory or domestic operations, regardless of its commercial 
significance, provides a basis to issue a CDO. Certain Magnetic Tape Cartridges, Comm’n Op. 
at 65, n.24; Certain Table Saws, Comm’n Op. at 6-7, n.2. 
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desist order must demonstrate, based on the record, that this remedy is necessary to address the 

violation found in the investigation so as to not undercut the relief provided by the exclusion 

order.” Certain Table Saws, Comm’n Op. at 5 (citing Certain Integrated Repeaters, Switches, 

Transceivers, & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-435, USITC Pub. No. 3547 (Oct. 

2002), Comm’n Op. at 27 (Aug. 16, 2002); see also H.R. REP. No. 100-40, at 160 (1987)). 

2. The RD 
 

Before the ALJ, RAB requested that, should an LEO issue, it should “exempt 

replacement/refurbished parts and devices” to “comport with RAB’s existing warranty, service, 

repair, and replacement requirements” and to “mitigate unnecessary harm to consumers that 

already own a RAB product.” RD at 181 (citing RAB’s Post-Hearing Reply Br. (“RRB”) at 55). 

RAB’s “5 Year No Compromise LED Product Warranty” states, in relevant part (with terms at 

issue italicized), that: 

If the RAB LED product fails the above warranty, RAB will 
provide at least one of the following remedies subject to all 
limitations stated herein without any other obligations: 

 
1. Provide a replacement RAB LED product; or 

 
2. Potentially contribute to the cost of a technician for the repair 

or replacement of a defective RAB LED product subject to 
RAB’s sole discretion; or 

 
3. Upon returning the covered LED product, refund the purchaser 

the purchase cost for the covered LED product and potentially 
reimburse the purchaser the reasonable, customary, and 
necessary costs for replacing the product with an alternative 
product in RAB’s sole discretion[.] 

 
JX-61. RAB also submitted that any LEO should include a certification provision, particularly 

here, “where certain products even within the same product family may possess different 

characteristics relevant to the claims of the Asserted Patents.” RD at 181 (citing RRB at 55). 
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The RD recommends that, if the Commission finds a violation, it should issue an LEO 

without RAB’s requested exemption because it is unsupported by the record. Id. at 182. The 

RD finds that there is no evidence that RAB has ever imported products to replace, refurbish, or 

repair a product and that RAB has not identified any importation made to fulfill a warranty 

obligation. Id. The RD also finds that RAB’s warranty terms make clear that an exemption is 

not necessary for respondent to fulfill its warranty obligations because RAB can fulfill those 

obligations by offering a refund or reimbursement. Id. (citing JX-122 (Barna Dep.) (RAB’s 

Chief Executive Officer) (“CEO”) at 169:4-170:20; JX-61). 

Regarding RAB’s request for a certification provision, the RD notes that the Commission 

has included certification provisions where complicated and costly reverse engineering 

procedures are required for Customs to determine whether imported merchandise is covered by 

the patent claims at issue, or where respondents “import both infringing and non-infringing 

products.” Id. (citing, e.g., Certain Dental Implants, Inv. No. 337-TA-934, Comm’n Op. at 48 

(May 11, 2016)). The RD recommends that, given the number of SKUs (“stock keeping units”) 

that RAB imports and the difficulty in ascertaining whether many of them infringe, any LEO 

should include a certification provision. 

Accordingly, the RD recommends that: (1) the Commission not include any warranty 

exemption for replacements parts for any LEO that issues; and (2) any LEO include a standard 

certification provision. Id. 

The RD also recommends the issuance of a CDO because the record supports, and RAB 

stipulated to, the presence of a “commercially significant” inventory maintained by respondent. 

Id. at 183 (citing CX-16C.0004). As with the LEO, the RD recommends that any CDO not 
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include a warranty exemption for replacement parts. Id. 
 

3. The Parties’ Submissions 
 

Cree submits that the Commission should issue an LEO and a CDO. Cree’s Sub. at 2. 

Cree contends that there is no support for a warranty exemption for importation of replacement 

parts because RAB has not identified any importation that it has made to replace, refurbish, or 

repair a product to fulfill a warranty obligation. Id. at 4. Rather, Cree contends, consistent with 

the RD’s recommendation, that RAB’s warranty terms show that the exemption is not necessary 

because respondent can satisfy its warranty obligations by offering a refund, credit, or 

reimbursement. Id. (citing JX-122 (Barna Dep.) at 169:4-170:20; JX-61). 

Cree further submits that, in past investigations, the Commission has pointed to evidence 

showing that repair and replacement exemptions were needed or would benefit consumers before 

granting an exemption. Id. at 5 (citing Certain Magnetic Data Storage Tapes and Cartridges, 

337-TA-1012, Comm’n Op. at 127 (Apr. 2, 2018) (“Certain Data Storage Tapes”) (pointing to 

customer letters that established a basis to “exempt replacement parts”); Certain Mobile Devices, 

Associated Software, and Components Thereof, 337-TA-744, Comm’n Op. at 21-22 (Jun. 5, 

2012) (“Certain Mobile Devices”) (allowing an exemption because “customers [with service 

contracts] may not be able to receive repaired devices as provided for in those contracts,” “if the 

Commission were to exclude service and repair parts from the U.S. market”); Certain Liquid 

Crystal Display Devices, Inv. No. 337-TA-631, Comm’n Op. at 27 (Jul. 14, 2009) (basing 

exemption on the public interest factors)).   Cree contends that, here, the record “includes no 

such evidence,” and therefore there is no basis to include a warranty exemption in the LEO or 

CDO for replacement parts.   Cree’s Sub. at 5 (emphasis added by Cree); see also Cree’s Reply 

at 4-5 (citing Certain Robotic Vacuum Cleaning Devices and Components Thereof such as Spare 
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Parts (“Certain Robotic Vacuums”), Inv. No. 337-TA-1057, Comm’n Op. at 58-60 (Feb. 1, 

2019) (respondent provided no justification to “exempt service, repair, and replacement parts”)). 

RAB responds that neither the RD nor Cree have identified any harm that Cree would 

suffer if an LEO or CDO exempted replacement and refurbished parts and devices so that RAB 

could perform its existing warranty, service, repair, and replacement obligations. RAB’s Sub. at 

4. RAB argues that Cree cannot identify any such harm resulting from a warranty exemption 

since RAB and Cree are not competitors in any meaningful sense insofar as RAB sells its 

accused products exclusively to electrical distributors, while Cree sells its DI products to any 

entity. Id. (citing Tr. at 587:21-588:5 (Barna)). Cree criticizes this argument as inconsistent 

with RAB’s witness testimony during the investigation. Cree’s Reply at 6. In contrast to this 

assertion, RAB’s Vice-President of Product Management, Erik Milz, testified extensively as to 

the competitive nature of the products that the two companies offer. Cree’s Reply at 6-7 (citing 

JX-124 (Milz Dep.) at 22:24-24:1; 57:14-16; 29:20-30:10; 33:2-5; 36:22-37:1). 

RAB submits that, should the Commission find that an LEO or CDO is appropriate, it 

should tailor such orders to permit the repair or replacement of existing LED lighting devices. 

RAB’s Sub. at 3; see also RAB’s Reply at 1-2. RAB submits that in this investigation it is 

undisputed that its accused products are subject to the “5 Year No Compromise LED Product 

Warranty” contractual obligation. RAB’s Sub. at 3 (citing JX-61 (RAB’s Product Warranty 

Terms)). RAB contends that there is no reason to harm consumers by preventing them from 

getting adequate repairs or replacements to LED lighting devices that were sold prior to the 

issuance of any LEO or CDO. Id. RAB further contends that its customers are best served by 

RAB upholding its legal obligation to perform such work under the customers’ warranties and 
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that Commission precedent teaches that U.S. consumers should not be punished for purchasing 

accused devices prior to any finding of violation. Id. at 3-4 (citing Certain Data Storage Tapes, 

Comm’n Op. at 127 (“determin[ing] that the LEO shall contain an exemption to allow for the 

importation of cartridges which Sony certifies are necessary for replacement under its warranty 

agreements.”); Certain Liquid Crystal Display Devices, Comm’n Op. at 27 (“the public interest 

weighs in favor of an exemption to allow importation of service and replacement parts”)). 

Based on the foregoing, RAB submits that any LEO or CDO should include a warranty 

exemption for replacement and refurbished parts and devices.6 Id. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 RAB also argues that the ID’s finding of infringement for the ’270 patent by RAB’s “FFLED” 
family of products was only with respect to RAB’s air-gap design for these products. RAB’s 
Sub. at 2-3. RAB contends that the ID does not adjudicate infringement with respect to RAB’s 
no air-gap design because the asserted claims of the ’270 patent require an “air gap.” Id. (citing 
ID at 96). Thus, RAB argues, any order should apply only to products adjudicated to infringe. 
Id. RAB misunderstands the scope of a Commission remedial order. A Commission order is 
typically not limited to the accused products, but includes all products within the scope of the 
investigation that are covered by the patent claims as to which a violation has been found. See 
Certain Road Construction Machines and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-1088 
(Modification), Comm’n Op. at 22-34 (Aug. 31, 2020). For a product that has not been accused 
by the complainant, it is incumbent upon a respondent to put a particular product at issue during 
discovery, and in its substantive arguments before the ALJ, if it wants a particular product to be 
explicitly adjudicated as not infringing. Certain Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Methods of 
Producing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1120, Comm’n Op. at 18-19 (May 19, 2020). RAB did 
not do so in this case. To the extent that RAB seeks to import a product that has not been 
adjudicated as non-infringing in this proceeding, RAB may take advantage of procedures offered 
by the Commission to obtain such an adjudication under Commission Rules 210.76 
(modification) and 210.79 (advisory opinion) or may request a ruling from U.S. Customs and 
Border Protection under 19 C.F.R. Part 177. RAB may not utilize the certification provision in 
the order for this purpose, as it applies only to products that have been explicitly adjudicated to 
be non-infringing. 
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4. Analysis 
 

The Commission has determined to issue an LEO (with the customary certification 

provision) directed to RAB’s unlicensed importation of infringing LED products, fixtures, and 

components thereof (“the covered products”), and to issue a CDO directed against RAB. The 

Commission has determined not to include any warranty exemption regarding replacement parts 

for previously imported products. 

a. LEO 
 

Section 337(d)(1) authorizes the Commission to issue an LEO if it “determines, as a 

result of an investigation under this section, that there is a violation of this section[.]” 19 U.S.C. 

§ 1337(d)(1). 
 

The Commission has adopted the ID’s finding of a violation of section 337 as to the ’270 

and ’570 patents with respect to RAB’s infringing LED products, fixtures, and components 

thereof. In accordance with section 337(d)(1), the Commission has determined to issue an LEO 

directed to RAB’s unlicensed importation of such articles. 

b. Certification Provision 
 

The Commission has determined to include a certification provision in the LEO allowing 

persons seeking to import articles that are potentially subject to the LEO, at the discretion of the 

CBP and pursuant to the procedures it establishes, to certify that they are familiar with the terms 

of the LEO, that they have made appropriate inquiry, and that, to the best of their knowledge and 

belief, the products being imported are not excluded from entry under the LEO. It has become 

customary for the Commission to include such a provision in its remedial orders. Here, a 

certification provision is particularly appropriate due to the very large number of SKUs that RAB 

imports and the potential difficulty that CBP could have in ascertaining whether a particular 
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SKU is subject to the LEO. The Commission notes, however, that the certification provision 

only applies to products that have been explicitly adjudicated as non-infringing. 

c. Warranty Exemption 
 

With respect to RAB’s request for a warranty exemption from the remedial orders, RAB 

does not present any record evidence of any previous warranty service imports or customer use 

of the warranty replacement provision. This omission is telling because the warranty agreement 

admittedly allows for refund, credit, or reimbursement to satisfy RAB’s warranty obligation at 

RAB’s discretion.   JX-122 (Barna Dep.) at 169:4-170:20; JX-61.   Further, as noted below, 

RAB makes no public interest arguments with respect to the ’270 and ’570 patents, and provides 

no record evidence of harm to U.S. consumers to justify the warranty exemption. See Certain 

Robotic Vacuums, Comm’n Op. at 58 (“[T]here is no record evidence, much less argument, of 

harm to U.S. consumers or adverse effect on other public interest factors to warrant an 

exemption.”); see also Certain Data Storage Tapes, Comm’n Op. at 127; Certain Mobile 

Devices, Comm’n Op. at 21-22. 

d. CDO 
 

Section 337(f)(1) provides that in addition to, or in lieu of, the issuance of an exclusion 

order, the Commission may issue a CDO as a remedy for violation of section 337. See 19 

U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1). 
 

Under Commission precedent, “[c]ease and desist orders are generally issued when, with 

respect to the imported infringing products, respondents maintain commercially significant 

inventories in the United States or have significant domestic operations that could undercut the 

remedy provided by an exclusion order.” Certain Air Mattress Systems, Components Thereof, 
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and Methods of Using the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-971, Comm’n Op. at 49 (May 17, 2017) 

(citations and footnote omitted). 

The Commission has further determined to issue a CDO directed against RAB because 

we concur with the RD that the record supports, and RAB has stipulated to, the presence of a 

“commercially significant” inventory maintained by respondent. RD at 183 (citing CX- 

16C.0004). Similar to the LEO, the CDO does not include a warranty exemption for 

replacement parts as explained above. Accordingly, the Commission declines to include a 

warranty exception in the LEO. 

B. Public Interest7 

 
1. Relevant Law 

 
Section 337 requires the Commission, upon finding a violation of section 337, to issue an 

LEO “unless, after considering the effect of such exclusion upon the public health and welfare, 

competitive conditions in the United States economy, the production of like or directly 

competitive articles in the United States, and United States consumers, it finds that such articles 

should not be excluded from entry.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(l). Similarly, the Commission must 

consider these public interest factors before issuing a CDO. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1). 

Under appropriate facts and circumstances, the Commission may determine that no 

remedy should issue because of adverse impacts on the public interest. See, e.g., Certain 

Fluidized Supporting Apparatus & Components Thereof, Inv. Nos. 337-TA-182/188, USITC 

Pub. 1667, Comm’n Op. at 1–2, 23–25 (Oct. 1984) (finding that the public interest warranted 

denying complainant’s requested relief). Moreover, when the circumstances of a particular 

 
 

7 The Commission did not ask the ALJ to make any findings concerning the public interest. 
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investigation have required it, the Commission has tailored its relief in light of the statutory 

public interest factors. For example, the Commission has allowed continued importation for 

ongoing medical research, exempted service parts, grandfathered certain infringing products, and 

delayed the imposition of remedies to allow affected third-party consumers to transition to non- 

infringing products. E.g., Certain Microfluidic Devices, Inv. No. 337-TA-1068 Comm’n Op. at 

1, 22–48, 53–54 (analyzing the public interest, discussing applicable precedent, and ultimately 

issuing a tailored LEO and a tailored CDO); Certain Road Milling Machines & Components 

Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-1067, Comm’n Op. at 32–33 (July 18, 2019) (exempting service 

parts); Certain Baseband Processor Chips & Chipsets, Transmitter, & Receiver (Radio) Chips, 

Power Control Chips, & Prods. Containing Same, Including Cellular Tel. Handsets, 337-TA- 

543, USITC Pub. No. 4258, Comm’n Op. at 150–51 (Oct. 2011) (grandfathering certain 

products); Certain Personal Data & Mobile Comm’n Devices & Related Software, 337-TA-710, 

USITC Pub. No. 4331, Comm’n Op. at 72–73, 80–81 (June 2012) (delaying imposition of 

remedy). 

2. The Parties’ Submissions 
 

Section 337 requires the Commission to consider and make findings on the public interest 

in every case in which a violation is found regardless of the quality or quantity of public interest 

information supplied by the parties. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(l), (f)(l). Thus, the Commission 

publishes a notice inviting the parties as well as interested members of the public and interested 

government agencies to gather and present evidence on the public interest at multiple junctures 

in the proceeding. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(l) & (f)(l). 

Cree submits that issuance of an LEO and CDO is not contrary to the public interest. 
 

Cree’s Sub. at 9-10. Cree submits that the remedial orders issued in this investigation will apply 
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to a single supplier’s products and that concededly “there are ‘hundreds, if not thousands of 

[market] participants’ to step in and replace the excluded products.” Id. at 10. Cree notes in 

particular that “the Commission has applied public interest factors to remedial orders directed at 

LED suppliers before and has never determined that public interest considerations preclude 

relief.” Id. (citing Certain LED Photographic Lighting Devices & Components Thereof, Inv. 

No. 337-TA-804, Comm’n Op. at 32-33 (Feb. 28, 2013) (finding that the public interest would 

not be adversely affected by the remedial order); Certain Light-Emitting Diodes & Prods. 

Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-512, Comm’n Op. at 10 (Apr. 14, 2008) (same) (“Certain 

Light-Emitting Diodes & Prods.”); see also Certain Digital Televisions & Certain Prods. 

Containing Same & Methods of Using Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-617, Comm’n Op. at 13-14 (Apr. 

23, 2009) (describing the “three investigations in which consideration of the public interest 

factors has prevented issuance of a remedy,” none of which involve accused LED products)). 

On the contrary, Cree asserts, the “Commission has recognized that the protection of intellectual 

property rights is in the public interest.” Id. (citing Certain Baseband Processor Chips and 

Chipsets, Inv. No. 337-TA-543, Comm’n Op. at 136-37 (June 7, 2007)). 

Regarding the statutory factors, Cree contends that its “requested remedial orders will 

likely benefit the public health, safety, and welfare,” noting RAB’s contention that “LEDs are 

critical to public health, safety, and welfare.” Id. at 11 (citing RAB’s PI Sub. at 3). Cree 

further asserts that the remedial orders would not harm the public health, safety, and welfare as 

“LED products, fixtures, and components will still be available in the United States from 

numerous sources including Cree Lighting and its licensees.” Id. (citing Compl. Ex. 12 (EDIS 

No. 714704) (identifying licensees)). Regarding like or directly competitive articles, Cree 
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asserts that the “‘hundreds, if not thousands’ [of other competitors] . . . will ensure that like or 

directly competitive articles are available to replace RAB’s accused products.” Id. at 12. Cree 

further notes that “RAB contends that LED products account for just ‘20% of the consumer 

lighting market,’ while raising no argument that remedial orders in this case will affect the other 

80% of the lighting market.” Id. (citing RAB’s PI Sub. at 2). 

Cree also argues that “no public interest concerns exist when the market contains an 

adequate supply of competitive or substitute products for those subject to a remedial order.” Id. 

at 13 (citing Certain Elec. Digital Media Devices & Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-796, 

Comm’n Op. at 114-15 (Sept. 6, 2013)). Cree contends that, in addition to the number of other 

LED suppliers in the market, “Cree and its licensees[] have the capacity to replace RAB’s 

infringing products without delay.” Id. (citing Compl. Ex. 12 (EDIS No. 714704) (identifying 

Cree Lighting’s licensees); CX-1866.0076 (competitor’s annual report showing revenue from 

lighting and building management solutions); CX-1867.0025 (competitor’s annual report 

showing revenue from LED products); CX-1868 (competitor’s annual report showing revenue 

from LED-based products)). Lastly, Cree asserts the remedial orders would cause no harm to 

consumers as “[t]here is no evidence in the record that suggests a shortage would be likely if 

RAB’s infringing products were no longer available.” Id. (citing Certain Light-Emitting Diodes 

& Prods., Comm’n Op. at 10, 12). 

RAB only raises public interest concerns with respect to a potential remedial order 

associated with the ’531 or ’819 patents (the LPW (“lumens per watt”) patents), for which the 

Commission has found no violation; RAB raises no such concerns regarding a remedial order 

associated with the ’270 or ’570 patents. RAB’s Sub. at 6-10; see also RAB’s Reply at 3. 
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3. Analysis 
 

The Commission has determined that, based on the evidence presented, the public interest 

factors do not preclude issuance of a remedy.   RAB has only presented public interest 

arguments with respect to patents for which the Commission does not find a violation. The 

Commission finds that RAB’s concerns are not at issue here. 

a. Public Health and Welfare 
 

The covered products are certain LED products, fixtures, and components thereof 

imported, sold for importation, or sold in the United States after importation by RAB that 

infringe one or more claims of the ʼ270 and ’570 patents. RAB explains generally that “LEDs 

are critical to public health, safety, and welfare,” noting that “LEDs offer significant health 

benefits over other types of lighting that contain hazardous materials such as mercury,” that 

widespread use of LEDs will benefit the environment and the economy, and that continued 

adoption of LEDs is “a critical [Department of Energy (“DoE”)] objective as it would have a 

positive effect on climate change and support energy independence.” RAB’s PI Sub. at 2-3. 

RAB contends that exclusion would frustrate DoE’s policy of promoting energy-efficient 

LED devices because two of the patents, the ’531 or ’819 patents, “cover any and all LED 

lighting devices with a wall plug efficiency of at least 60 LPW (’819) or 85 LPW (’531) 

regardless of their construction, design, components, or any other aspect.” Id. at 1. In RAB’s 

view, there is no way to design around these patents, and hence Cree could assert the LPW 

patents against virtually the entire LED lighting industry, blocking innovation and efficiency. 

Id. at 1-2. This specific concern is of no import in the public interest analysis here, however, 

because the Commission has found no violation as to these patents. 

RAB does not contend that exclusion of RAB’s LED products that infringe the claims of 
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the ’270 and ’570 patents would have an adverse impact on any of the public health, safety and 

welfare concerns that RAB identifies. See RAB’s PI Sub. at 3. The Commission also observes 

that even if RAB’s infringing products are excluded from the U.S. market, as Cree points out, 

“LED products, fixtures, and components will still be available in the United States from 

numerous sources including Cree Lighting and its licensees” and “‘hundreds, if not thousands’ 

[of other competitors] . . . will ensure that like or directly competitive articles are available to 

replace RAB’s accused products.” Cree’s Sub. at 12. Accordingly, the Commission finds that 

the remedial orders in this investigation will not adversely impact the availability of LED 

products in the United States and therefore any public health and welfare implications associated 

with the availability of LED products do not arise under section 337(d)(1), (f)(1). 

b. Competitive Conditions in the United States 
 

The Commission finds, and RAB does not dispute, that there are numerous suppliers of 

similar LED products, fixtures, and components thereof. See Cree’s Sub. at 12-14; RAB’s PI 

Sub. at 3. There is no evidence that exclusion of RAB’s covered products will adversely affect 

competitive conditions in the United States or the ability of other companies to innovate or 

compete in this space. To the contrary, the evidence indicates robust competition among 

providers and innovation in new LED technologies and competing products. RAB admittedly 

states that there are “hundreds, if not thousands of” participants in the LED market, which we 

find will ensure that like or directly competitive articles are available to replace RAB’s 

infringing products. See RAB’s PI Sub. at 3; Tr. 579:17-581:3 (Barna); see also Cree’s PI Sub. 

at 4 (citations omitted). Moreover, the exclusion of an unlawfully infringing product may 

encourage the development, marketing, and sale of products in lawful domestic competition. 
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Thus, the Commission finds that issuing an exclusion order will not adversely impact 

competitive conditions in the U.S. economy under section 337(d)(1), (f)(1). 

c. The Production of Like or Directly Competitive Articles in the 
United States 

 
The Commission finds, and RAB does not dispute, that the exclusion of RAB’s covered 

products will not adversely affect the production of like or directly competitive articles in the 

United States. Cree states that it “is a United States-based innovator of indoor, outdoor, and 

consumer bulb LED lighting products and intelligent controls solutions for commercial, 

industrial, and consumer applications.” Cree’s PI Sub. at 2. Cree notes that the record shows 

that it “researches, develops, and manufactures LED fixtures and components in the United 

States, and it employs significant labor and capital to do so.” Id. (citations omitted). Further, 

Cree notes that it has “substantial manufacturing capacity, including a 650,000-square-foot 

facility in Racine, Wisconsin, which it uses to make like and competitive products.” Id. at 4. 

Thus, the Commission finds that an exclusion order will not adversely impact, and may spur 

further growth in, the production of like or directly competitive articles in the United States 

under section 337(d)(1), (f)(1). 

d. United States Consumers 
 

The Commission finds, and RAB does not deny, that there are numerous suppliers of 

LED products, fixtures, and components thereof, including Cree and its licensees. See Cree’s 

Sub. at 11 (citing Compl. Ex. 12 (EDIS No. 714704) (identifying licensees)); RAB’s PI Sub. at 

3. There is no evidence in the record that suggests a shortage would be likely if RAB’s 

infringing products were no longer available. Accordingly, there is no indication in the record 

that exclusion of the covered products will adversely impact U.S. consumers, who will be able to 
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purchase other competitive products from these and other providers. Thus, the Commission 

finds that an exclusion order will not adversely impact U.S. consumers under section 337(d)(1), 

(f)(1). 

C. Bonding 
 

1. Relevant Law 
 

If the Commission enters an exclusion order or a cease and desist order, a respondent 

may continue to import and sell its products during the 60-day period of Presidential review 

under a bond in an amount determined by the Commission to be “sufficient to protect the 

complainant from any injury.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)(3); see also 19 C.F.R. § 210.50(a)(3). 

When reliable price information is available in the record, the Commission has often set the bond 

in an amount that would eliminate the price differential between the domestic product and the 

imported, infringing product. See Certain Microsphere Adhesives, Processes for Making Same, 

& Prods. Containing Same, Including Self-stick Repositionable Notes, Inv. No. 337-TA-366, 

USITC Pub. No. 2949, Comm’n Op. at 24 (Jan. 16, 1996). The Commission also has used a 

reasonable royalty rate to set the bond amount where a reasonable royalty rate could be 

ascertained from the evidence in the record. See, e.g., Certain Audio Digital-to-Analog 

Converters & Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-499, Comm’n Op. at 25 (Mar. 3, 2005). 

Where the record establishes that the calculation of a price differential is impractical and there is 

insufficient evidence in the record to determine a reasonable royalty, the Commission has 

imposed a 100 percent bond. See, e.g., Certain Liquid Crystal Display Modules, Prods. 

Containing Same, & Methods Using the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-634, Comm’n Op. at 6-7 (Nov. 

24, 2009). Even then, however, the complainant bears the burden of establishing the need for a 

bond. Certain Rubber Antidegradants, Components Thereof & Prods. Containing Same 
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(“Certain Rubber Antidegradants”), Inv. No. 337-TA-533, USITC Pub. No. 3975, Comm’n Op. 

at 40 (July 21, 2006). 

2. The RD 
 

Before the ALJ, Cree contended that a price comparison between Cree’s domestic 

industry (“DI”) products8 and RAB’s imported, infringing products is impracticable because of 

the very large number of different SKUs that each party offers. RD at 184 (citing Cree’s Initial 

Post-Hearing Br. (“CIB”) at 119; Certain Microsphere Adhesives, Comm’n Op. at 24-25; Tr. at 

82:3-82:21 (Wilcox) (Cree’s Vice-President of Research and Development and Intellectual 

Property”) (“[T]here’s usually . . . ranging from a few dozen to sometimes thousands or tens of 

thousands of particular variations of the product.”); JPX-117C (SKUs for Cree’s DI Products); 

CX-474C (SKUs for RAB’s Accused Products)). Cree therefore suggested using a reasonable 

royalty rate to calculate the amount of the bond, noting that it has “actual license agreements 

entered into by the patent holder with respect to the patents-in-suit.” Id. (citing CIB at 119-20; 

Certain Mobile Devices, Comm’n Op. at 33-34). Cree specifically identified its license with 

Feit Electric, which settled litigation involving the ’819 patent. Id. (citing CIB at 120; Tr. at 

106:2-107:25 (Wilcox); CX-352C.0001-0002). In the settlement, Feit Electric agreed to pay 

 

. Id. (citing CIB at 120; CX-352C.0011-0012). The products accused in 

this investigation, as confirmed by RAB’s CEO, Mr. Barna, are LED fixtures that are sold 

 

8 Cree’s DI products, jointly stipulated as to practicing at least one claim of each of the ’531, 
’819, ’270, and ’570 patents, include the following: Cree’s CR4T LED Downlight (CX-843); 
CR6T LED Downlight (CX-837); CR6T-G LED Gimbal Downlight (CX-0838); CR4 LED 
Downlight (CX-0835), CR6 LED Downlight (CX-836), DS4 LED Surface Mount Disk Light 
(CX-844), and DS6 LED Surface Mount Disk Light (CX-1899). ID at 15-16 (citing JX-169C 
(Infringement Stipulation) at ¶¶ 11-13). 
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through commercial channels. Id. at 184-85 (citing Tr. at 587:21-588:5 (Barna); CX- 

352C.0002-0004 (defining “fixture” and “commercial channel”)). 

RAB responded that Cree had failed to establish the appropriateness of a five percent 

bond. RD at 185 (citing RRB at 56). According to RAB, the record shows that Cree has 

licensed its patents to several other entities as described in the license agreements. Id. (citing, 

e.g., CX-342C; CX-343C; CX-345C; CX-352C; CX-353C; CX-1887C). RAB noted that many 

of these agreements include . Id. (citing, e.g., CX-342C; 
 

CX-343C; CX-345C; CX-352C; CX 353C; CX-1887C). In particular, RAB noted that two 

licenses, including the Feit Electric license, provide 

. Id. (citing CX-352C; CX-353C). 
 

The RD rejects RAB’s argument because RAB does not explain why the five percent 
 

royalty rate , is not 
 

appropriate here. Id. The RD notes that the purpose of the bond is to protect the complainant 

from any injury. Id. (citing 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)(3)).   The RD finds that, based on the evidence 

of prior royalty rates, a five percent bond will protect Cree. It therefore recommends imposing a 

five percent bond for importation of infringing articles during the period of Presidential review. 

Id. 

3. The Parties’ Submissions 
 

Cree submits that the bond should be based on royalty rates in this case because the 

products at issue are sold in many – sometimes thousands of – variants. Cree’s Sub. at 7 (citing 

Tr. (Wilcox) 82:3-82:21 (“[There are] usually . . . ranging from a few dozen to sometimes 

thousands or tens of thousands of particular variations of the product.”); JPX-117C (SKUs for 

Complainant’s DI Products); CX-474C (SKUs for RAB’s Accused Products)); see also Cree’s 
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Reply at 7-8. Cree also submits that the products at issue here run the gamut from streetlights to 

indoor downlights, and therefore the number of products and the variability between the products 

renders a price comparison impracticable. Cree’s Sub. at 7-8 (citing CX-716; CX-835; Certain 

Microsphere Adhesives, Comm’n Op. at 24-25 (“Basing the bond on price differentials between 

3M’s Kudos’ products in this investigation would be very problematic because of the large 

variety of products involved, the wide variations in pricing, and the many distribution methods 

employed.”)). 

Cree contends that the RD properly recommends a five percent bond based on its 
 

previous licenses, . Id.   Cree submits that RAB’s arguments 
 

to the contrary fail for a number of reasons, including: (1) RAB’s failure to analyze any of 

Cree’s previous license agreements, including any analysis of licensing fees or adjusted royalty 

rates to account for licensing fees; (2) RAB’s failure to analyze which royalty rates apply to light 

fixtures and which apply to other types of LED products; and (3) RAB’s failure to submit any 

expert testimony about Cree’s previous licenses. Id. at 8. 

Based on the foregoing, Cree submits that the Commission should adopt the RD’s 

recommendation and impose a bond of at least five percent of the retail value of RAB’s 

infringing products during the period of Presidential review. Id. at 9. 

RAB submits that, should the Commission find a violation, no bond should be required 

during the period of Presidential review. RAB’s Sub. at 4; see also RAB’s Reply at 2. RAB 

submits that the RD’s recommended imposition of a five percent bond improperly places the 

burden on RAB to show why a five percent bond is not appropriate. RAB’s Sub. at 4-5.  RAB 

argues that this is contrary to Commission precedent, which teaches that Cree bears the burden of 
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adequately pleading and supporting any bond amount. Id. at 5 (citing, e.g., Certain Rubber 

Antidegradants, Comm’n Op. at 39-40). RAB further contends that although part of Cree’s 

burden requires it to establish that a bond is necessary to protect Cree from injury during the 

period of Presidential review, the RD does not make any such finding of injury. Id. (citing 

Certain Electronic Devices with Multi-Touch Enabled Touch Pads and Touchscreens, Inv. No. 

337-TA-714, Final ID at 76-77 (July 5, 2011)). RAB submits that, rather, the RD recommends 

the five percent bond “ 

 

. Id. RAB contends, however, that neither the RD nor 

Cree have provided any analysis as to why the five percent royalty rate should be selected – 

particularly when . Id. 
 

Based on the foregoing, RAB submits that the Commission should reject the RD’s 

recommendation and find that Cree has failed to establish that a bond is appropriate here. Id. 

4. Analysis 
 

The Commission has determined to impose a bond in the amount of five (5) percent of 

the entered value of the covered products during the period of Presidential review based on the 

evidence of a reasonable royalty rate. It is undisputed that a price comparison here is 

impracticable due to the very large number of different SKUs that Cree and RAB offers. Also, 

the Commission notes that it “frequently uses actual license agreements entered into by the 

patent holder with respect to the patents-in-suit as the best evidence of such a royalty rate.” 

Certain Mobile Devices, Comm’n Op. at 33-34. For example, in previous litigation against Feit 

Electric involving the ’819 patent, Cree’s predecessor agreed to a settlement 

. Cree’s 
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Sub. at 8 (citing Tr. (Wilcox) 106:2-107:25; CX-0352C.0001-0004 (defining “fixture” and 

“commercial channel”)). 

The ’531 patent is a continuation-in-part of the ’819 patent, and covers similar LED 

products, i.e., LED fixtures, sold through commercial channels. Indeed, as confirmed by RAB, 

the accused products for all of the patents-in-suit include such LED products, sold through 

commercial channels. CX-352C.0002-0004; Tr. at 587:21-588:5 (Barna); see also ID at 15 

(citing Infringement Stipulation JX-169C.0003); Complaint at ¶ 13, Exhs. 18-19 (Jul. 15, 2020); 

Cree’s Initial Post-Hearing Br. at 1, 43 (May 28, 2021) (all referring to RAB’s accused LED 

fixtures with respect to the ’270 and ’570 patents). The Commission finds that in this context, a 

five percent bond is appropriate with respect to not only the ’819 and ’531 patents, but also with 

respect to all of the patents-in-suit covering comparable commercial LED products and fixtures. 

Accordingly, the Commission adopts the RD’s recommendation that a five percent bond is 

appropriate to protect Cree during the period of Presidential review. See 19 U.S.C. 1337(j) 

(providing for entry of infringing articles during the sixty (60) day period of Presidential review 

upon payment of a bond and stating that the bond is to be set at a level “sufficient to protect the 

complainant from any injury.”). 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, the Commission has determined that there has been a 

violation of section 337 with respect to claims 1-2 of the ’270 patent and claims 1, 3-5, and 10 of 

the ’570 patent. Accordingly, the investigation is terminated with a finding of a violation of 

section 337. The Commission determines that the appropriate remedy is: (1) an LEO 

prohibiting RAB’s unlicensed importation of light-emitting diode products, fixtures, and 
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components thereof that infringe one or more of claims 1-2 of the ’270 patent and claims 1, 3-5, 

and 10 of the ’570 patent; and (2) a CDO directed against RAB. The Commission further 

determines that the public interest does not preclude that remedy, and that the bond during the 

period of Presidential review is set at five (5) percent of the entered value of the covered 

products. 

 
By Order of the Commission. 

 

        
 
Lisa R. Barton 
Secretary to the Commission 

 
 

Issued: January 14, 2022 
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